

# Supporting Science Learning and Literacy Development Together:

Initial Results From a Curriculum Study in 1st Grade Classrooms

Christopher J. Harris, Robert Murphy, Mingyu Feng, Daisy W. Rutstein

#### **Suggested Citation:**

Harris, C. J., Murphy, R., Feng, M., & Rutstein, D. (2023). *Supporting science learning and literacy development together: Initial results from a curriculum study in 1st grade classrooms.* WestEd.

#### Funder Acknowledgment:

The material in this report is based upon work supported by the Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education, through Grant R305A180513. Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of their institutions, the Institute of Education Sciences, or the U.S. Department of Education.

#### Acknowledgments:

We extend thanks to Melissa Rego, Ashley Iveland, Jessica Triant, Ryan Burke, May Chan, Kelly Collins, Rosanne Luu, Kimkinyona Fox, Erika Gaylor, Natalie Brezack, Anna Bartel, and Kevin Huang for their contributions to this research and to Corynn Del Core for assistance in preparing this report. The study also benefited from contributions made by the developer team, including Co-Principal Investigator Alison Billman and Professional Learning Specialist Meredith Moran. We gratefully acknowledge the support of district leaders and the participation of the 1st grade teachers and students within the districts where this study was conducted.

© 2023 WestEd. All rights reserved.

Photos by Allison Shelley/The Verbatim Agency for EDUimages

#### Note regarding the independent nature of the study:

This study was conducted by WestEd in partnership with LFC Research (Robert Murphy) and SRI Education (Daisy Rutstein). Amplify Education, Inc., which is the publisher and distributor of Amplify Science, was not involved in the administration of the study. Developers from the University of California in Berkeley's Lawrence Hall of Science provided the professional learning support that was part of the curricular intervention. The Lawrence Hall of Science also served as a resource and thought partner to the study team on matters related to the curriculum, its design features, and its implementation. All data collection and analysis activities were carried out independently by the study team.

# **CONTENTS**

SUMMARY	1
INTRODUCTION	2
STUDY OVERVIEW	4
Study Design	4
Setting and Participants	5
Randomization	5
Amplify Science 1st Grade Curriculum	5
Intervention and Comparison Conditions	6
MEASURES	7
Student Learning Measures	7
Collecting and Scoring Completed Assessments	8
RESULTS	9
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	11
REFERENCES	13

#### **SUMMARY**

This report describes initial findings from a study conducted in 1st grade classrooms of science curriculum materials that were designed to promote learning as called for by the Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS). The study, led by WestEd, was an independent randomized controlled trial to evaluate the efficacy of the NGSS-designed Amplify Science 1st grade curriculum. The curriculum aims to support science language and literacy in day-to-day science lessons in ways meant to integrate science learning with students' literacy development.

The study examined the impact of the curricular materials in classrooms across three school districts within a state that has adopted NGSS performance expectations. Elementary schools were randomly assigned to one of two implementation conditions: an intervention condition in which 1st grade teachers implemented the Amplify Science program and a comparison condition in which 1st grade teachers continued their regular classroom science instruction. In both conditions, teachers were tasked with covering the same topics in physical science, life science, and Earth and space science as outlined by their respective districts and state standards. Teacher implementation measures included weekly instructional logs in which teachers self-reported on their science instruction. Student outcome measures encompassed four types of assessments: a standardized science assessment, a science assessment aligned with NGSS performance expectations, an assessment focusing on science vocabulary usage aligned with domain-specific language emphasized by the NGSS, and a standardized 1st grade reading assessment.

The results show that students in intervention classrooms significantly outperformed students in comparison classrooms on the two NGSS-focused assessments. A small positive effect was found on the standardized science assessment that was distal to the NGSS. There was no difference between the two conditions on the standardized reading assessment, indicating that students' reading performance in the two conditions were similar at the end of the school year. This suggests that the intervention may have supported students' reading development while providing them with considerably more science instruction. This study is among the first randomized controlled trials of widely available curriculum materials for the NGSS in K–3 classrooms.

#### **INTRODUCTION:**

# The Status of Elementary Science in the Context of Today's Vision for Science Education

This is a time of impressive change for science education, as a new generation of science curriculum materials is being developed across all levels of K–12. Catalyzed by the release of *A Framework for K–12 Science Education* (National Research Council [NRC], 2012) and the *Next Generation Science Standards* (NGSS; NGSS Lead States, 2013), these new and innovative curriculum materials are playing a pivotal role in transforming science instruction to actively engage students in authentic science learning. The *Framework* and NGSS underscore the importance of affording every student, starting from the earliest grades, the opportunity to participate in science, where they need to go beyond just learning the factual information about a science topic and toward figuring out and explaining how or why something happens in the natural world. In this way, the *Framework* and NGSS recast science proficiency as not only what students know but also how they can use and apply what they know to make sense of phenomena and design solutions to problems.

While this vision holds tremendous promise for engaging a diverse range of students in science learning, the unfortunate reality is that most young students do not have access to high-quality elementary science education (e.g., Trygstad et al., 2020). Science has long been undervalued in the elementary grades (Spillane et al., 2001), with the amount and quality of science instruction varying widely (e.g., Banilower et al., 2013; Banilower et al., 2018; Dorph et al., 2011; Marx & Harris, 2006). For example, the findings of the *National Survey of Science and Mathematics Education* (NSSME) over the past 20 years (e.g., Banilower et al., 2013; Banilower et al., 2018; Weiss et al., 2001) consistently show that science receives far less instructional time than do other core subjects during the early grades.

At the same time, there is increasing recognition that early science education is important for all students, especially those whose backgrounds are underrepresented in science and science-related fields (e.g., McClure et al., 2017; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine [NASEM], 2022). Students in underresourced schools often progress through the elementary years with far less access and fewer opportunities to learn science, thereby creating a discouraging situation of inequitable science access that has potential long-term consequences (Dorph et al., 2011; Marx & Harris, 2006; Morgan et al., 2016).

A reason often given for the diminished instructional time for science is that language arts and mathematics are considered paramount in early elementary classrooms. Accountability policies,

mostly intended to support robust language arts and mathematics instruction, have the unintended consequence of pushing science to the sidelines. Moreover, lowered prioritization of science learning by education leaders and policymakers often translates to a lack of investment in updated instructional materials, professional learning, and supplies needed for science. This dilemma presents a significant challenge for the science education community:

Without diminishing the important aims of language arts and mathematics, how can we build and sustain quality science education that is accessible to all students, beginning in the earliest grades?

The renewed interest and enthusiasm in science education for the early grades have led to the development of new curriculum materials expressly designed to fit within the current reality of elementary classrooms. One example is the Amplify Science K–5 curriculum, which received high marks for its NGSS design in a review by EdReports (EdReports, 2022). The materials, developed by the University of California, Berkeley's Lawrence Hall of Science, in collaboration with Amplify Education, Inc., aim to promote learning as called for by the NGSS. The use of these curriculum materials in elementary classrooms requires teachers to spend more instructional time on science than is typical based on national surveys of K–5 elementary teachers (Banilower et al., 2018). Noteworthy is that the curriculum's day-to-day science lessons intentionally integrate science learning with students' literacy development, with an emphasis on reading in K–3. The lessons engage students in multiple learning modalities (i.e., doing, reading, writing, talking, and visualizing science) with attention to age-appropriate pedagogy. This integration offers the potential benefit of more instructional time for science while enabling teachers to simultaneously support young students' literacy development in the context of science.

In this report, we describe initial findings from a study of the NGSS-designed Amplify Science program in 1st grade classrooms. The study team investigated the impact of the materials in 1st grade classrooms across three school districts in a state that has adopted NGSS performance expectations. Of high interest was studying the extent to which the curriculum supports young students' three-dimensional learning as called for by the NGSS,<sup>1</sup> their literacy learning related to reading and the use of science-related language, and the nature of teachers' implementation. This report presents initial findings on science and literacy learning outcomes and discusses the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Three-dimensional learning refers to the process of applying the three dimensions of disciplinary core ideas, science and engineering practices, and crosscutting concepts to make sense of phenomena or solve problems. It is the means through which students are expected to build proficiency with NGSS performance expectations.

implications of these findings for science instructional practice in K–3 classrooms. In particular, the discussion considers the promise of NGSS-designed curriculum materials for supporting the teaching and learning of science and literacy development together in the early elementary grades.

# STUDY OVERVIEW

WestEd led an independent randomized controlled trial to evaluate the efficacy of the NGSS-designed Amplify Science 1st grade curriculum. The 1st grade curriculum was originally developed by the Lawrence Hall of Science under a development grant from the U.S. Department of Education's Institute of Education Sciences and is now part of the comprehensive Amplify Science K–5 program that is widely available to school districts. In the study reported here, the research team investigated the extent to which the curriculum supports young students' three-dimensional learning as called for by the NGSS and their literacy learning related to reading and science language use:

What is the impact of the 1st grade curriculum on science learning and literacy outcomes in culturally and linguistically diverse school settings?

# **Study Design**

To study the impact of the NGSS-designed Amplify Science materials, we conducted a randomized controlled trial in 1st grade classrooms across 40 schools in three districts in California during the 2021/22 school year.<sup>2</sup> Within each district, elementary schools were randomly assigned to either an intervention or comparison condition, with all teachers in a school receiving the same assignment. The 1st grade teachers in the intervention condition implemented the Amplify Science curricular units as part of their regular classroom instruction and received professional development on the curriculum. Teachers in the comparison condition implemented their regular classroom instruction without Amplify Science and were asked to teach science as they typically would during the school

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Originally scheduled for the 2020/21 school year, the study was postponed to the following year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. All schools provided in-person, classroom-based instruction during the 2021/22 study.

year.<sup>3</sup> Teachers in both groups were tasked with providing instruction on the same science topics and to support students in building proficiency with the same NGSS performance expectations as outlined in their state standards for 1st grade.

## **Setting and Participants**

The participating districts are located in different geographic regions and represent a range of diverse student populations. They vary in size and type, including a large urban district, a large rural district, and a midsize suburban district. Collectively, they serve diverse student populations, including multiple racial and ethnic groups. Approximately 30 percent of students across all schools were identified as multilingual learners, and nearly 70 percent qualified for free or reduced-price lunch. Most schools in the sample are Title I schools. The sample consisted of 39 teachers within 18 schools assigned to the intervention condition and 43 teachers in 22 schools assigned to the comparison condition. The analytic sample included 2,035 students from the 82 classrooms of 1st graders.

#### Randomization

To conduct the randomization process, enrolled schools within each district were paired based on their demographic characteristics and students' prior performance on state mathematics and English language arts tests. Then, within each pair, schools were randomly assigned to either an intervention condition or a business-as-usual comparison condition. Randomizing within districts ensured that both the intervention group and the comparison group included schools from all participating districts. Moreover, using matched pairs to randomize increased the likelihood of a balanced sample.

## **Amplify Science 1st Grade Curriculum**

Amplify Science's 1st grade curriculum consists of three phenomena-based instructional units, each focusing on one of three science domains: life science, physical science, and Earth and space science. The life science unit engages students in the study of plant and animal survival, exploring plant and animal structures and functions, including how parents and offspring are alike but not exactly alike. Students build models to explain how animals and plants survive in their environments. The physical science unit addresses light and sound, engaging students in investigating cause-and-effect patterns related to light, light interactions with materials, and sound. The Earth and space science unit integrates two big ideas: the patterns in the sky as observed from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Of note is that participating districts were offered the Amplify Science curriculum package for their comparison group teachers along with professional learning for the subsequent year once the study concluded

Earth and Earth's shape, position, and motion as observed from space. Students investigate and explain nighttime and daytime patterns, the apparent motion of the sun in the sky, and seasonal patterns. Across the three units, lessons are designed to engage students with NGSS disciplinary core ideas, science and engineering practices, and crosscutting concepts.

Each unit is 22 lessons in length and designed to be taught within a 6–8 week period, with students participating in two or three lessons per week. Lessons are 45-minute sessions but can be divided and presented over a greater number of sessions. The curriculum is hosted on a digital platform for teachers, offering features that enable the download of the teaching guide, lessons, and all supporting documents. Throughout the units, students conduct hands-on investigations; read; gather information from various sources, such as books, videos, and images; and participate in discussions and writing activities to explain science ideas. They collect evidence from firsthand investigations and secondhand sources to create physical models and write explanations. The curriculum package includes the following:

- a digital teacher's guide and media for students
- science kit materials with literacy supports
- student notebooks for writing and drawing
- five books provided as big books for teachers for read-aloud, shared, and partner reading and student books for the same purposes

#### **Intervention and Comparison Conditions**

Teachers in the intervention condition were provided with the full-year Amplify Science curriculum package and received 3 full days of professional learning on the instructional stance of the overall curriculum, the features of the units, and how to implement the lessons. These professional learning sessions were facilitated by the developers from the Lawrence Hall of Science who had designed the 1st grade units. Prior to the start of the school year, teachers attended a 1-day workshop to learn about the curriculum's integrated science and literacy pedagogical approach, to experience segments of the target curriculum units as learners, and to become familiarized with the digital teacher's guide. Two additional professional learning sessions were held during the school year just before the teaching of the second and third units. In addition to gaining experience with the content of the targeted units, the second and third workshops provided time for teachers to share their experiences with implementing integrated science and literacy instruction and to seek advice from fellow teachers as well as the professional learning providers. In cases when teachers could not attend a session during the school year, they were offered the option of attending a makeup video conference with the facilitators or watching a recorded session with an accompanying brief activity to complete.

Teachers in the intervention condition were instructed to implement the three Amplify Science units and adhere to their district's science sequence aligned with NGSS performance expectations. Meanwhile, teachers in the comparison condition were asked to teach science as they normally would and follow their district's science sequence aligned with NGSS performance expectations.

To ensure that all teachers had familiarity with the study's requirements, teachers in both conditions participated in a virtual session hosted by the research team at the beginning of the school year. This session provided an overview of the study, the study's timeline, and data collection activities. Separate research sessions were held for each group of teachers. Throughout the study, the research team had dedicated staff members serve as coordinators who were responsible for communicating with all participating teachers about study-related matters, coordinating data collection from classrooms, and tracking teacher participation in study activities.

#### **MEASURES**

#### **Student Learning Measures**

The outcome measures included two standardized assessments of science and reading and two study-developed NGSS-focused assessments of science learning and science vocabulary in-use.

The lowa Assessments for Grade 1 provide a standardized measure of within-year student achievement in reading and general science knowledge. The reading comprehension assessment consists of a series of five short stories. Students read the stories and answer three or four multiple-choice items for each story without assistance by the teacher. The lowa Assessment for science consists of 29 pictorial items administered to the whole class. For each item, students are presented with three pictures, and the teacher reads a question aloud. Students then mark the circle under the picture that best answers the question. These items cover general knowledge in life science, physical science, and Earth and space science but are not aligned with NGSS performance expectations.

At the time of the study, there were no off-the-shelf 1st grade science assessments for the NGSS. Subsequently, the research team developed two NGSS-focused assessments that would be fair to both study conditions (DeBarger et al., 2016). The first is a science learning assessment that was designed to elicit student performance with aspects of NGSS performance expectations for 1st grade. This assessment consists of six multistep tasks within a booklet—two from each of the domains of Earth and space science, life science, and physical science. For each task, students are presented with a brief phenomenon-based or problem-based scenario that requires them to

demonstrate a range of performances that include interpreting data in tables, drawing, making predictions, and selecting tools for an investigation. This assessment was administered as a whole-class activity in which the teacher read each scenario aloud while students followed along and responded in their own booklets.

The second NGSS-focused assessment is a science-vocabulary-in-use assessment aligned with domain-specific language emphasized by the NGSS. It prompts students to evaluate word meaning and usage. It consists of 10 science terms relevant to the three dimensions of NGSS performance expectations (i.e., science and engineering practices, disciplinary core ideas, and crosscutting concepts) for 1st grade. For this assessment, students are presented with each term and asked whether they agree with two provided definitions (one not aligned with the science term) and then asked to respond to two questions related to the appropriate use of the term in a science context. This assessment was delivered as a whole-class activity, with the teacher reading the prompts aloud while students filled in circles corresponding to their chosen answers in their own booklets.

#### **Collecting and Scoring Completed Assessments**

Teachers in both conditions were asked to administer the full battery of paper-and-pencil assessments within 2 weeks of concluding their science instruction for the year. All completed standardized assessment response forms underwent automated scoring to generate scale and raw scores. The NGSS-focused assessment forms were randomized and assigned to independent scorers with expertise in science education and science assessment. Responses were scored using rubrics and scoring guides. Scorers underwent rigorous training on the rubrics, with one set of assessments serving as a training set. During scoring, the scorers remained blind to all identities, including the assigned research condition. Approximately 25 percent of the assessments were scored by two scorers with checks for reliability. Any disagreements were resolved by a third scorer. Following an initial reliability check, the interrater exact agreement reliability exceeded 90 percent with Cohen's kappa scores of greater than 0.8 across all items. Scores from tasks were aggregated to calculate an overall total score for each assessment. After completing the scoring, the psychometric properties of the NGSS-focused assessments were examined. The overall internal consistency as measured by Cronbach's alpha was 0.674 for the science learning assessment and 0.845 for the science-vocabulary-in-use assessment.

#### **RESULTS**

To gauge the impact of the Amplify Science 1st grade science curriculum on student learning outcomes, we compared posttest scores of students in intervention schools with those of students in comparison schools across the four assessments (i.e., NGSS-focused assessments and standardized assessments). Our analysis employed multilevel linear regression models with students nested within schools. We controlled for a range of school-level and student-level characteristics, as well as for students' prior achievement on reading tests administered by each district at the beginning of the school year.

#### Finding 1

Students in intervention classrooms significantly outperformed students in comparison classrooms on NGSS-focused three-dimensional learning and science vocabulary in-use.

The 1st grade students in classrooms that used Amplify Science materials achieved higher scores on both end-of-year NGSS-focused assessments. The estimated impact on performance on the science learning assessment was statistically significant (p < .001) and corresponds to an effect size of 0.24 standard deviation units (Hedges's g). The estimated impact on performance on the science-vocabulary-in-use assessment was also statistically significant (p < .01) and corresponds to an effect size of 0.46. Moreover, these same students slightly outperformed their counterparts in comparison classrooms on the standardized science assessment that is distal to the NGSS. We observed a small positive effect size of 0.09 on the standardized lowa assessment for science, although the mean difference in scores between students in intervention and comparison classrooms was not statistically significant (p > .60).

Effect sizes are a common metric in educational research to quantify the magnitude of the difference between two groups. They can be especially helpful for understanding the practical significance of intervention effects. The effect sizes for student performance on the NGSS-focused assessments are considered meaningful for education research. To put this in perspective, an effect size of 0.24 on the science learning assessment is equivalent to the average student in the comparison classrooms improving their percentile rank by 10 percentile points (e.g., from the 50th percentile to the 60th percentile) if they had access to the Amplify Science curriculum. Similarly, an effect size of 0.46 on the science-vocabulary-in-use assessment is equivalent to an improvement from the 50th percentile to the 68th percentile for the average comparison student, or 18 percentile points. The small effect size of 0.09 on the standardized lowa assessment for science is negligible, meaning that the average student in comparison classrooms would perform about the same or improve only slightly if assigned to the Amplify Science curriculum.



# Finding 2 Students in intervention classrooms performed similarly to students in comparison classrooms on a standardized assessment of reading.

We collected student reading benchmark scores at the beginning of the school year as a measure of prior academic achievement. There were no statistically significant initial differences between the Amplify Science intervention and comparison groups on achievement scores in reading. At the end of the school year, we found that students who had access to the Amplify Science curriculum remained on par with students in comparison classrooms. That is, there were essentially no differences in performance between 1st grade students in intervention and comparison classrooms on the standardized lowa reading assessment. The effect size was below 0.01. This result suggests that the literacy-focused aspects of the Amplify Science curriculum may be playing a role in supporting students' reading development in intervention classrooms as they spend significantly more of the school week engaged in science instruction.

## **DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS**

The learning outcome results provide promising evidence that curriculum materials designed for the early grades to support NGSS instruction can enhance student learning of important three-dimensional learning goals found in state science standards. In this study, the state science standards for all participating districts took the form of NGSS performance expectations for 1st grade. Moreover, the results show that science curriculum materials that use the high-leverage strategy of integrated science and literacy can improve students' proficiency with science, enrich their science vocabulary knowledge and usage, and simultaneously develop their reading skills. The NGSS-focused assessments were designed to be instructionally sensitive by aligning with the state science standards that teachers were held accountable for within both conditions. In contrast, the standardized science assessment measured general science knowledge that was distal to the three-dimensional learning goals of the state standards. We found no significant difference in students' general science knowledge between conditions.

The findings from the standardized reading assessment are intriguing because they appear to suggest that teachers can teach considerably more science in the early grades using Amplify Science with some confidence that students' reading scores will not be negatively impacted. Our ongoing analysis of teachers' instructional logs and survey responses (not described in this report) will enable us to further explore how the materials were used in classrooms and the time devoted to using them. Noteworthy is that in prior implementation research of Amplify Science materials in 1st grade classrooms, we found that teachers who implemented the curriculum spent considerably more time on science instruction than did their counterparts in comparison classrooms (Iveland et al., 2021). When they did teach science, these teachers were more likely to engage their students in reading informational science text and communicating their science ideas orally, in drawing, in model use, and in writing. They were also more likely to engage their students in a range of science and engineering practices and support student sense-making of phenomena. In the present study, we are currently investigating these same aspects of teaching and the amount of time spent in science instruction between intervention and comparison classrooms.

Curriculum materials that bring together science and literacy in a manner that benefits learning in both domains may enable elementary teachers to create the instructional space needed for science to be taught on a regular basis. The research literature on the benefits of science and literacy integration in the elementary grades has been well documented and is quite compelling (e.g., Billman & Pearson, 2018; Cervetti et al., 2012; Samarapungavan et al., 2011; Varelas et al., 2006). Yet, the teaching of science has not been prioritized in the elementary grades historically. High-quality science curricular materials that fit with the current realities of schools and meet the needs of teachers and young students are an important start, but they are likely just one of several

components that will be required to shift an elementary system in which long-standing policies and practices have made providing early grades access to science a formidable challenge.

Finally, there have been relatively few studies in the elementary grades of science and literacy integration in the context of NGSS-designed curriculum materials. This study contributes to this emerging literature and is among the first group-randomized studies of widely available curriculum materials for the NGSS in K–2 classrooms. As Amplify Science K–5 and other new NGSS-designed materials become more widely used across geographic regions and with varying student populations, additional studies at larger scale will be needed so that we can continue to build the evidence base for the uptake of science in the elementary grades.



#### REFERENCES

Banilower, E. R., Smith, P. S., Malzahn, K. A., Plumley, C. L., Gordon, E. M., & Hayes, M. L. (2018). *Report of the 2018 NSSME+*. Horizon Research.

Banilower, E. R., Smith, P. S., Weiss, I. R., Malzahn, K. A., Campbell, K. M., & Weis, A. M. (2013). *Report of the 2012 national survey of science and mathematics education*. Horizon Research.

Billman, A. K., & Pearson, P. D. (2018). First grade second language: Uniting science knowledge and literacy development for English language learners [Technical report]. Regents of University of California.

Cervetti, G. N., Barber, J., Dorph, R., Pearson, P. D., & Goldschmidt, P. G. (2012). The impact of an integrated approach to science and literacy in elementary school classrooms. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *49*(5), 631–658.

DeBarger, A. H., Penuel, W. R., Harris, C. J., & Kennedy, C. A. (2016). Building an assessment argument to design and use next generation science assessments in efficacy studies of curriculum interventions. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *37*(2), 174–192.

Dorph, R., Shields, P., Tiffany-Morales, J., Hartry, A., & McCaffrey, T. (2011). *High hopes—Few opportunities: The status of elementary science education in California*. The Center for the Future of Teaching and Learning at WestEd.

EdReports. (2022). Review of science instructional materials: Amplify Science K-5.

Iveland, A., Murphy, R., Billman, A. K., Rego, M., & Harris, C. J. (2021). *First grade teachers' uptake of an integrated science-literacy curriculum in support of NGSS instruction*. Paper presented at the annual international NARST conference, virtual conference.

Marx, R. W., & Harris, C. J. (2006). No Child Left Behind and science education: Opportunities, challenges, and risks. *The Elementary School Journal*, *106*(5), 467–477.

McClure, E. R., Guernsey, L., Clements, D. H., Bales, S. N., Nichols, J., Kendall-Taylor, N., & Levine, M. H. (2017). *STEM starts early: Grounding science, technology, engineering, and math education in early childhood.* The Joan Ganz Cooney Center at Sesame Workshop.

Morgan, P. L., Farkas, G., Hillemeier, M. M., & Maczuga, S. (2016). Science achievement gaps begin very early, persist, and are largely explained by modifiable factors. *Educational Researcher*, *45*(1), 18–35.

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2022). *Science and engineering in preschool through elementary grades: The brilliance of children and the strengths of educators.* The National Academies Press.

National Research Council. (2012). *A framework for K–12 science education: Practices, crosscutting concepts, and core ideas*. National Academies Press.

NGSS Lead States. (2013). *Next Generation Science Standards: For states, by states.* The National Academies Press.

Samarapungavan, A., Patrick, H., & Mantzicopoulos, P. (2011). What kindergarten students learn in inquiry-based science classrooms. *Cognition and Instruction*, *29*(4), 416–470.

Spillane, J. P., Diamond, J. B., Walker, L. J., Halverson, R., & Jita, L. (2001). Urban school leadership for elementary science instruction: Identifying and activating resources in an undervalued school subject. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *38*(8), 918–940.

Trygstad, P. J., Malzahn, K. A., Banilower, E. R., Plumley, C. L., & Bruce, A. D. (2020). *Are all students getting equal access to high-quality science education? Data from the 2018 NSSME.* Horizon Research.

Varelas, M., Pappas, C. C., & Rife, A. (2006). Exploring the role of intertextuality in concept construction: Urban second graders make sense of evaporation, boiling, and condensation. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 43, 637–666.

Weiss, I. R., Banilower, E. R., McMahon, K. C., & Smith, P. S. (2001). Report of the 2000 national survey of science and mathematics education. Chapel Hill, NC: Horizon Research, Inc.

#### Collaborators

WestEd • LFC Research • SRI Education • University of California, Berkeley